IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICARDO IGNACIO GILL,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC06-1572

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
BILLMC@leoncountyfl.gov
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the items contained in the lower court's record will be designated with the prefix "R" followed by the volume number and page number. There was no trial in this case. The transcripts of the various hearing will be referenced with the prefix "T." The supplemental record filed in this case will be referenced with the prefix "SR." Exhibits introduced in evidence will be referenced with the exhibit identification used in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A Union County grand jury, on February 6, 2002, indicted Ricardo Ignacio Gill for first degree murder for the strangulation death of Orlando Rosello occurring on July 25, 2001. (R1:1-2) Gill was appointed a public defender on February 6, 2002, and a written not guilty plea was entered on the same day. (R1:3-4) The Public Defender's Office was allowed to with withdraw due to a conflict on February 20, 2002. (R1:5-10) Attorney Stephen Bernstein was appointed, but he withdrew as counsel on May 17, 2002. (R1:18-24) The court appointed Attorney Lloyd Vipperman. (R1:24) Gill filed his own motions to represent himself on April 8 and May 20, 2002. (R1:20. 25-26) On May 20, 2002, the court abated the request to proceed pro se until Gill had the opportunity to determine if he wished to continue with Vipperman as counsel. (R1:27) Gill filed a pro se motion for production of the list of qualified counsel to handle death penalty cases on June 11 and July 5, 2002. (R1:31-38) Vipperman moved to withdraw as counsel on July 9, 2002. (R1:64-65) At an arraignment hearing on July 11, 2002, Vipperman raised his concerns about Gill's competency and sanity. (T9:6-9) agreed to appoint an expert to examine Gill. (T9:6-9) The motion Vipperman filed to withdraw as counsel at Gill's request was left pending. (R1:64-65; T9:6-9) On November 18, 2002, the court

entered an order appointing Dr. Clifford Levin to evaluate Gill's mental competency to proceed. (R1:79-82)

On December 23, 2002, Dr. Levin wrote a report. (R1:94-96) Gill had refused to be interviewed, but Levin performed a review of Gill's medical and classification records at the prison. (R1:94) Gill had a dysfunctional childhood, did not know his biological father and reported physical abuse by a step-father. (R1:94) age ten, Gill began institutional placement including one and onehalf years at a psychiatric center in Miami. (R1:94) When Gill was 13-years-old, he was placed in the state hospital for psychiatric problems. (R1:94) The description of his symptoms included "... extremely impulsive, violent, hyperactive, and as exhibiting possibly delusional or psychotic features." (R1:94) Tranquilizers had no effect. (R1:94) At age 17, Gill began 13 years of multiple adult incarcerations. (R1:94) In prison, he was disruptive, committed assaults and was the subject of psychiatric reviews. (R1:95) The records showed various diagnoses ... "Major Depressive Disorder with Psychotic Features, Attention Deficit Disorder, Asperger's Disorder, Polysubstance Dependency, and Antisocial Personality Disorder." (R1:95) For the year preceding Levin's report, the prison records showed an ongoing diagnosis of Psychoses, NOS. (R1:95) Gill had periods of refusing medications,

but he began accepting prescriptions for Zyprexa, Lithium and Thorozine. (R1:95) These medications were given to stabilize his mood and treat auditory hallucinations—voices telling him to kill someone. (R1:95) He was also described as logical and goal oriented with no reports of delusional thinking. (R1:95) One psychiatrist noted that Gill may not be hallucinating. (R1:95) Gill filed numerous complaints and grievances. (R1:95) He also had at least twelve disciplinary referrals. (R1:95) Levin noted the difficulty of reaching an opinion on competency without interviewing Gill, but he saw nothing in the records to indicate that Gill did not have the capacity to assist counsel in his defense. (R1:96)

At a motion hearing on February 14, 2003, the issue of competency was again addressed. (T10:27-33) Attorney Vipperman stated that there had been a misunderstanding resulting in Gill's not seeing Dr. Levin. (T10:28-29) Vipperman said he would arrange another opportunity for Dr. Levin to see Gill. (T10:29) The court found Dr. Levin's report incomplete and asked that Dr. Levin again attempt to see and evaluate Gill. (T10:19) Additionally, the court agreed to appoint two additional mental health professionals to perform a competency evaluation. (T10:32-33) On March 17, 2003,

the court reappointed Dr. Levin and also appointed Dr. Elizabeth Cadiz and Dr. Alan Waldman. (R1:101)

On April 4, 2003, the court heard a pending motion to have Gill transported to the Alachua County Jail to afford him access to a law library. (T12:46-64) Wayne Mack, the deputy director of the Alachua County Jail, testified about 44 prior incident reports involving Gill when he was last in the jail between June 1999 and July 2001. (T12:52-53, 5, 564) The reports were introduced in evidence. (T12:53-54) In summary, Mack said the incidents included "...disobeying officers orders committed by Mr. Gill, incidents of Mr. Gill flooding his cell, incidents of Mr. Gill destroying his cell, incidents of Mr. Gill smearing feces in his cell, incidents of Mr. Gill propelling urine on officers, propelling urine and feces mixed on officers, incidents of Mr. Gill injuring himself, incidents of him threatening to injure himself, incidents of him injuring officers, and general disruption." (T12:54) Mack stated there was an incident where Gill bit an officer. (T12:54) During this time, Gill was housed in the mental health unit of the jail, moved to the infirmary and then to the protective custody section. (T12:59) The court denied the motion to transport Gill back to the Alachua County Jail. (T12:64)

Pursuant to a point Gill made in a pro se pleading, the State on April 15, 2003, filed a motion for a hearing regarding defense counsel qualifications pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.112. (R1:31-34, 110-112; T12:66) The court heard the motion on June 27, 2003. (T13:73-77) Attorney Vipperman advised the court that he did not meet the qualification under the rule, but his law partner in Ocala, Tricia Jenkins, did meet the qualifications. (T13:75-76) There had not yet been a list of qualified counsel to handle capital cases created for the circuit, and the court stated that such a list would be created. (T13:76) The court reserved ruling on the motion. (T13:77) The court appointed Tricia Jenkins as cocounsel. (R1:132, R2:226-227) After discussion about the progress of the experts' competency evaluations of Gill, the court agreed to reschedule the competency hearing, and, subsequently, three continuances of the hearing were granted. (T13:77-80: R1:136-137, 143; R2:281)

On November 6, 2003, Gill filed a pro se motion requesting a Nelson hearing. (R2:286-287) The court held a hearing on November 21, 2003. (T14:88-109) Although the court, the defense, and the State still had questions about Gill's competency (T14:88-91), the court agreed to allow Gill to speak to his complaints. (T14:96) Attorney Vipperman objected to the process out of concern that what

Gill might say would jeopardize his defense. (T4:97-98) After hearing Gill's complaints about having been represented for many months by counsel who was not qualified under the rules, the court agreed to have Vipperman and Jenkins withdraw as counsel. (T14:98-109) Gill asked for a <u>Faretta</u> hearing and to proceed pro se, but the court deferred such a hearing until substitute counsel was available and a competency hearing completed. (T14:110-112) The court also heard and granted the State's motion to strike Gill's various pro se motions filed while he was represented as a nullity. (T14:113-114)

On June 18, 2004, Gill's new attorney, Bill Salmon, appeared for a hearing regarding the competency issue, another <u>Nelson</u> hearing, and the postponed <u>Faretta</u> inquiry. (T15:119) The court had Dr. Levin, Dr. Krop and Dr. Werner present in the courtroom to assist in addressing the competency of Gill. (T15:121) Each of the experts conducted an examination of Gill and reported back to the court with an opinion that Gill was competent to stand trial. (T15:130-131, 134-137) Dr. Werner filed a report. (R3:370-373) Gill withdrew his motion to have Salmon withdraw as counsel and his request to represent himself. (T15:132-134)

On February 18, 2005, the court heard Gill's renewed requests for a Nelson hearing and for appointment of conflict free counsel.

(R3:407-410, 439-444; T17:205-259) After an inquiry, the court ruled that there was no basis to discharge Bill Salmon as counsel. (T17:256) Gill asked to waive counsel and represent himself. (T17:256-257) The court was concerned about Gill's competency to waive counsel. (T17:257) With Gill's agreement, the court appointed Dr. Helen Cadiz to evaluate Gill. (T17:257; R3:456-457)

Dr. Cadiz prepared her report on April 14, 2005. (R3:482-493) She noted that Gill was diagnosed with Impulse Control Disorder, Bipolar Disorder and Personality Disorder. (R3:483) His symptoms included self-injury, poor anger management and social skills. (R3:483) A neurosurgeon had recommended surgery for intracranial bleeding probably due to injury. (R3:483-484) Gill refused surgery because he did not trust the physician hired by the Department of Corrections. (R3:484) Cadiz found that Gill exhibited mistrust and paranoia. (R3:488-490) Gill has difficulty communicating choices because he is ambivalent about whether he wants to live or die. (R3:490) Although capable of understanding information and the legal significance of his case, his ability to make rational choices is impaired. (R3:491) Cadiz thought it unlikely that Gill would have the emotional control and concentration ability to represent himself. (R3:492)

The court held a hearing on the issue of Gill's request for self-representation on April 15, 2005. (T18:271-322) First, the court suggested a review of Dr. Cadiz's report. (T18:272-273) Gill advised the court that he wanted to withdraw his request for a Faretta hearing and consider a motion to allow him to enter a plea. (T18:273) Gill stated, "Mr. Salmon has instilled fear in me. reached his objective. I do not wish to proceed with a Faretta The court repeated that he first wanted to hearing."(T18:273) review Dr. Cadiz's report about Gill's competency. (T18:273) Counsel for the State, the Defense, the Court and Gill reviewed the expert's report and mental evaluation of Gill. (T18:273-274) conclusion was that Dr. Cadiz never stated an opinion on the question of whether Gill was competent or incompetent. (T18:274-278) As a result, the court suggested a telephone conference with Dr. Cadiz or the appointment of another expert. (T18:278) After some discussion, the court agreed to try to talk to Dr. Cadiz. (T18:281) Gill interjected and told the judge,

Your Honor, you might as well make your decision today because I'm not speaking to another expert. If you can't make your decision, this case will never end. With or without Mr. Salmon's assistance, I will implicate myself in a crime that will result in my death. So you might as well make the decision today.

(T18:281) The prosecutor argued for the court to decide the matter since Gill had never been found incompetent, even though mentally ill, in any prior evaluation. (T18:275, 282) The Court agreed to enter an order finding Gill competent. (T18:283)

Next, the court advised Gill that his request for waiver of a jury trial and entry of a plea would be considered. (T18:287-288) First, the court began with a Faretta hearing. (T18:288) advised the court that his lawyer, Bill Salmon, had threatened his life if he proceeded with a Faretta hearing. (T18:291) He stated that he had received a letter from Salmon with the threat. (T18:292-293) The court conducted a hearing on the matter with Bill Salmon being sworn and testifying. (T18:294-297) A copy of a letter on Salmon's office letterhead was presented. (T18:295-296) The letter read, "Dear Mr. Gill: If you proceed to request leave of the court to represent yourself, you will be killed. Sincerely, Bill Salmon."(T18:296) Salmon testified that he did not write the letter and no such letter came from his office. (T18:296) Salmon had no idea how such a letter was created. (T18:296) Additionally, Salmon testified that he would never threaten Gill for exercising his right to represent himself. (T18:297) Salmon did state that he thought an irreconcilable conflict now existed in his ability to continue to represent Gill. (T18:297-298) Judge Cates asked Gill

if he had anything to say about the letter, and Gill responded that he thought the judge may have had something to do with the letter and that this had been orchestrated with Judge Morris. (T18:299-300) Gill confirmed that he wanted the court to remove Salmon as his lawyer and appoint another lawyer if that was what the court wanted to do. (T18:301-302) The court denied Gill's request to discharge Salmon. (T18:303) Gill said he wanted the court to discharge Salmon and allow him to enter a plea. (T18:303)

Judge Cates began a Faretta inquiry regarding Gill's understanding of the trial process, his ability to personally handle such matters and Gill's understanding of how a lawyer could help. (T18:303-317) Gill acknowledged he did not know all about the trial process or have the skills to handle a trial. (T18:304-317) However, Gill stated that if representing himself he would only be present at trial and would not present a defense. (T18:306, 309, 314, 319) Gill said he was clear on what a lawyer could do, but reasserted that he would not allow Salmon to perform that role. (T18:317) He had no problem with Salmon being present but not acting as his lawyer. (T18:319) Salmon urged the court to appoint successor counsel. (T18:320) Judge Cates then asked Gill if he was freely and knowingly giving up his right to counsel. (T18:320-321)

[GILL]: I cannot waive my right to an attorney because Mr. Salmon has reached his objective of instilling fear in me of waiving my right to counsel.

[THE COURT]: So we'll go to trial -

[GILL]: I will just be at trial. I won't go to trial. I will be here. I cannot --- Mr. Salmon didn't threaten me to keep him as my attorney so that I can live after the jury hears my trial. That wasn't the point. That's not the way that's supposed to be construed.

[THE COURT]: Do you want to represent yourself at trial, or do you want ---

[GILL]: I cannot represent myself. I just told you that.

(T18:321) The court concluded that Gill had not made a clear and convincing waiver of his right to counsel. (T18:322)

On May 5, 2005, Judge Cates presided over a status conference for another criminal case Gill had pending in Gilchrist County. (SR1:55-69) Attorney Bill Salmon also represented Gill in that case, and the assistant state attorney prosecuting Gill in Union County was also prosecuting in Gilchrist County. (SR1:55-69) In a joint hearing for both cases, the court conducted another Nelson inquiry on new complaints and ruled on Gill's request to represent himself.(SR1:56-65) The inquiry was based on a lengthy pleading Gill filed listing his complaints because Gill refused to speak at the hearing. (SR1:57) After completing the Nelson inquiry, the court found no reasons to discharge Salmon. (SR1:65) The court

ruled that Gill was competent to waive counsel. (SR1:65-66) Based on the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted on April 15, 2005, in Union County, and without further inquiry of Gill, the court ruled that Gill waived his right to counsel and could represent himself in both cases. (SR1:65-66) Additionally, the court retained Bill Salmon as stand-by counsel for Gill in both cases. (SR1:66)

On July 8, 2005, Gill changed his plea to guilty as charged. Initially, the court acknowledged that Gill was T19:335-358) representing himself with stand-by counsel. (T19:335-336) asked if he wanted to enter the plea with counsel, Gill responded that he would represent himself. (T19:336) The court reminded Gill that he had the right to counsel at any time during the proceeding, and Gill declined the offer of counsel's representation. (T19:337-The court read the indictment, advised Gill of the possible penalties, the that the State was seeking a death sentence, and the consideration process of οf aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (T19:337-340) Gill was sworn. (T19:345) Again, the court advised Gill of his right to counsel which Gill declined. (T19:345-346) Gill further stated that he had no reservations about proceeding with the plea without a lawyer. (T19:347) During the colloquy with the court, Gill acknowledged a guilty plea would give up his right to a jury trial, the assistance of counsel, to testify and present evidence. (T19:349-350) When asked, Gill said he took medications for mood swings but he did not take his medications that day. (T19:350-351) He stated that his thinking was clear. (T19:351) Gill said he was pleading guilty without promises or threats. (T19:351-352) He told the court he was entering the plea freely, knowingly and voluntarily, without compulsion by anyone. (T19:353) The court accepted the guilty plea. (T19:355) At that point, the prosecutor asked that he be permitted to present a factual basis for the charge and a summary of the evidence. (T19:356) The summary included that Gill had been adjudged guilty of first degree murder on July 20, 2001, in an Alachua County case and sentenced to life. (T19:356) Four days later, Gill killed Orlando Rosello, another inmate who was locked in the same cell. (T19:356-357) Rosello was found in the cell, and he had been strangled with a bed sheet. (T19:357) Gill was the only other inmate in the cell with Rosello for the hours preceding the homicide. (T19:356-357) Two written confessions to the offense were found -- one in Gill's shirt pocket and one in the plumbing in the cell. (T19:357) Gill's statement described the homicide. (T19:357) He stated that he wrapped a sheet around Rosello's neck and "...strangled the shit out of him." (T19:357) When blood came out of Rosello's ear, Gill started punching Rosello's chest, trying

to stop his heart. (T19:357) Gill tied the sheet in a knot wrapped around Rosello's neck and left him there for two hours. (T19:357)

Gill waived his right to a penalty phase jury on July 8, 2005, and a penalty phase before the court commenced the same day. (T19:358-377) Additionally, Gill, again, declined the assistance of counsel. (T19:377) The State presented its for case aggravation asserting the existence of five aggravating circumstances: (1) under sentence of imprisonment; (2) previous conviction for another capital felony; (3) heinous, atrocious and cruel; (4) cold, calculated and premeditated; and (5) disrupt or hinder government function or enforcement of laws. (T19:379-393) In support of its case for aggravation the State presented a composite exhibit containing judgments and sentences for various offenses dating back to 1986. (T19:380-385) Specifically, judgments for the following were introduced: first degree murder (Alachua County #1999-CF-2277-A); attempted first degree murder (Gilchrist County #21-2000-CF-0007); battery on detention staff (Alachua County #99-4240); battery on a law enforcement officer (Alachua County #2000-2185-CFA); burglary of a dwelling with a battery (Orange County #CR-86-5568); and burglary of a dwelling with an assault and robbery (Orange County #CR-86-6240). (T19:380-383)(State Composite Exhibit A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A7, A8 & W)

State relied on these judgments to support the circumstances of the homicide committed while under sentence of imprisonment and a previous conviction for a violent or capital felony. (T19:384-385, 398-399) The State relied on Gill's statement about the commission of the crime to support the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance. (T19:385-386) To support the cold, calculated and premeditated and the hindering law enforcement circumstances, the State relied on statements Gill made at his sentencing on a homicide in Alachua County and letters Gill wrote to Judge Morris, the prosecutor and the newspaper. (T19:387-392)(State Exhibit B, C, D & E) These indicated that the murder in this case was committed in order to receive a death sentence. (T19:387-392)

Since Gill waived counsel and chose not to present mitigation, the prosecutor introduced evidence he deemed relevant to mitigation. (T19:393-401) The State introduced the following:

- Defense sentencing memorandum filed for Gill in Alachua County murder case, No. 1999-2277. (State Exhibit F) (T19:394)
 - 2. Report from Dr. Alan Waldman, dated May 27, 2003. (State Exhibit G) (T19:395)
 - 3. Report from Dr. Helen Cadiz, dated April 14, 2005. (State Exhibit H) (T19:395)

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