IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICARDO I. GILL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC06-1572

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE II: DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR IN FINDING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED? (RESTATED) 8

1. ISSUE II is unpreserved and explicitly waived.

ISSUE II attacks the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP). While this Court conducts a proportionality review regardless of whether it is raised below or on appeal, a claim attacking a trial court finding of a specific aggravating circumstance must be preserved by bringing it to the trial court's attention prior to raising it on appeal. See Stephens v. State, 975 So.2d 405, 426 (Fla. 2007) ("Stephens argues that the aggravating circumstance and jury instruction for a 'victim under 12 years of age' is unconstitutionally overinclusive, arbitrary, and automatically applicable to homicides committed regardless of the circumstances. Stephens did not object at trial to the constitutionality of this aggravator in order to preserve the claim for appeal"; "appellate

 $^{^8}$ The State's discussion in ISSUE I and the State's Statement of Facts $\underline{\mathrm{supra}}$ covered in detail evidence supporting CCP. Therefore, here the State incorporates its ISSUE I and Statement of Facts discussions, $\underline{\mathrm{supra}}$, by reference, and here it frequently refers explicitly to those facts.

counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this claim on direct appeal because even if he had done so, this Court would have declined to address the merits of the claim"); Willacy v. State, 967 So.2d 131, 148 (Fla. 2007) ("Because the record does not indicate that counsel specifically requested a jury instruction distinguishing between "ordinary premeditation" and the premeditation required for the CCP aggravator "cold, calculated and premeditated," the issue was not preserved for appeal. Therefore, appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise this claim"); Lukehart v. State, 776 So.2d 906, 925 (Fla. 2000) ("procedurally barred in that Lukehart did not object at trial on constitutional grounds to the jury instruction on this aggravator"); Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So.2d 637, 644 (Fla. 2000) ("Trial counsel objected to the applicability of the HAC instruction, but did not specifically object on the basis that the instruction was unconstitutionally vague. Although trial counsel did file a pretrial motion on the basis that the CCP instruction unconstitutionally vague, counsel did not renew the objection in the sentencing hearing or submit an alternative instruction. Therefore, these claims were not preserved for appellate review"); Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 1994) ("Because the challenge to the CCP instruction has been properly preserved in this case...").

Here, not only was this claim unpreserved, procedurally barring it on appeal, it was explicitly waived below, as Gill, while representing himself, conceded that CCP applied (See, e.g., R5 861-62; R21 477-78) and even opposed evidence that he construed could be argued as suggesting to

the contrary (See, e.g., R20 436-42; R4 575). ISSUE II was waived, procedurally barring it here. See State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("The only exception [to fundamental error] we have recognized is where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the incomplete instruction"), citing Armstrong v. State, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1991).

Moreover, the constitutional citations (IB 39-40) were not preserved, if not also waived. In any event, these constitutional citations are undeveloped in the Initial Brief, and as such, procedurally barred. See Lawrence v. State, 831 So.2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002) ("Lawrence complains, in a single sentence, that the prosecutor engaged in improper burden shifting"; "Because Lawrence's bare claim is unsupported by argument, this Court affirms the trial court's summary denial of this subclaim"), citing Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999), Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So.2d 1009, 1020 (Fla. 1999), Coolen v. State, 696 So.2d 738, 742 n. 2 (Fla.1997).

2. ISSUE II is meritless.

If the merits of ISSUE II are reached, it has none. ISSUE II fails to meet its appellate burden of demonstrating that there was no competent substantial evidence supporting CCP. To the contrary, abundant competent substantial evidence supported the Circuit Judge's finding of CCP.

The State disputes purported factual foundations for ISSUE II. Most importantly, the allegation that Gill was "incapable of calculating the homicide with requisite 'cool, calm, reflection'" (IB 37) is belied by a record saturated with Gill's calculations to kill and Gill's calm and

reflective arguments, as extensively discussed and documented in the Statement of Facts and in ISSUE I supra.

ISSUE II's (IB 39) distillation that Gill's "statements and admissions about the offense" were "after-fact" is incorrect. As extensively discussed and documented in the Statement of Facts and in ISSUE I <u>supra</u>, Gill deliberated for months; deliberated about four days before the murder, essentially promising Judge Morris in another Murder case that he would kill again to assure the death penalty; a couple days before this Murder described the murder in writing; and multiple times after the murder, confirmed that the murder was perpetrated pursuant to his plans and promises.

Indeed, an "after-fact" confession would have been sufficient for CCP, but, here, Gill's pre-announced plan and promise to murder leaves no doubt whatsoever of his CCP.

ISSUE II (IB 39) posits Gills' "suicide attempts" as significant, but as footnoted <u>supra</u>, the factual foundation of the purported suicide attempts is very questionable, and Gill's extreme planning for this murder belies any significance to whatever such attempts may have transpired. <u>See also</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Lawrence</u>. **Indeed**, as this Murder illustrates, when Gill is really determined to kill, he is successful.

ISSUE II's assertions that the trial court "failed to consider the impact of Gill's mental impairments on his state of mind at the time" (IB 38) and ISSUE II's reliance on Dr. Waldman (IB 39) are incorrect and misplaced. The Circuit Judge detailed crucial facts showing, whatever

Gill's mental condition, Gill was able to plan this Murder (R5 700-702) and analyzed CCP vis-a-vis mental mitigation:

In fact, the Court finds that the weight to be given this particular statutory mitigating factor is less than might have been given had GILL acted out of rage or great emotional disturbance, but rather, his behavior following Judge Morris's sentence was cold, calculated and premeditated. This man's behavior whom each expert has considered 'goal-oriented,' was not marked by suicide attempts, anger, rage, or the other factors he has previously shown, but by calm, or 'cold' reflection[.]

(R5 703-704) In analyzing the other mental mitigator, the sentencing order explains that its application has been "intermittent" (S5 707) and did not heavily rely on Dr. Waldman's report (S5 708). As discussed in ISSUE I supra, Waldman's courtroom testimony belied any link between Gill's tumortype formation and statutory mitigation. The trial court was very generous in finding and weighing the two statutory mental mitigators.

Any suggestion in ISSUE II that statutory mental mitigation and CCP are per se mutually exclusive would be incorrect. As illustrated by the case law discussed in ISSUE I (<u>Lawrence</u>, 846 So.2d 440; <u>Robinson</u>, 761 So.2d 269; <u>Smithers</u>, 826 So.2d 916), a trial court can find both of them in the same case.

Thus, the Circuit Judge, after extensively analyzing aggravation and mitigation (S5 697-708, detailed <u>supra</u>), explicitly stated that, on balance, "the magnitude of Defendant's aggravating factors outweigh the Defendant's statutory mitigating factors and non-statutory mitigating factors" (S5 708-709). ISSUE II's disagreement with the Circuit Judge's analysis and conclusion is not the appellate test for reversal. Moreover, for example, when Gill needed to control himself to present his point to

the trial court, it appears that he was in control of himself, responsive, rational and exhibited a capacity for long-term planning towards whatever was his goal at the time.

In contrast to ISSUE II's assertions, an appellant must demonstrate on appeal that competent substantial evidence do not support the finding of an aggravating circumstance, here CCP. See, e.g., Buzia v. State, 926 So.2d 1203, 1209 (Fla. 2006) ("whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding"), guoting Owen v. State, 862 So.2d 687, 698 (Fla. 2003), guoting Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 918 (Fla. 2000). The State has detailed supra, in the Statement of Facts and in ISSUE I, the abundant competent substantial evidence supporting the Circuit Judge's finding of CCP and its elements, including, as the Circuit Judge discussed (R5 699-702), Gill's advance cool and calm promise premeditated over days and even months, the promise-fulfilled through a calculated pre-arranged design, and the promise confessed-multiple-times as planned and fulfilled. Moreover, as also discussed supra, there are numerous additional indicia of Gill's mental capacity to coldly calculate and execute a plan formulated days, if not months, in advance.

As discussed above, <u>Lawrence</u>, 846 So.2d 440, supports affirmance. There, as here, the "trial court's sentencing order clearly state[d] and applie[d] the correct rule of law for establishing the CCP aggravator, and sets forth the extensive factual information supporting that aggravator,"

Id. at 450. There, in rejecting a challenge to CCP, Lawrence held:

Lawrence's confession regarding the Robinson murder, combined with the notes describing the planning of the murder as written by Lawrence, constitute competent, substantial evidence in the record that (1) the murder was the product of Lawrence's cool and calm reflection; (2) there was a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident; (3) Lawrence had heightened premeditation; and (4) there was no pretense of moral or legal justification for the murder. See Hoskins v. State, 702 So.2d 202, 210 (Fla. 1997).

846 So.2d at 450. Here, Gill's multiple confessions, combined with his multiple pre-murder oral and written statements satisfy the elements of CCP.

Robinson, 761 So.2d 269, where both statutory mental mitigators applied, rejected a challenge to CCP. Compare Robinson, 761 So.2d at 273 n.4 with Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175, 176 n.1, 180 n.6 (Fla. 1996). There, Robinson killed out of a determination not to be sent back to prison. 761 So.2d at 272. Here, Gill killed out of his determination not to spend his natural life in prison. Both Robinson and Gill "acted according to a deliberate plan and [were] fully cognizant of his actions on the night of the murder," 761 So.2d at 278. Both merited CCP.

Smithers v. State, 826 So.2d 916, 929-30 (Fla. 2002), upheld CCP based upon "competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the existence of the CCP aggravator for the Cowan murder," even though the trial court had also found the two statutory mental mitigators. In Smithers, there was circumstantial evidence that the killing was not perpetrated at the spur-of-the-moment during sex. In Smithers, the evidence included the "State attempt[ing] to prove this aggravator for the Cowan murder by establishing that Smithers murdered Roach in a similar fashion in the previous seven to ten days." Smithers reasoned that the "time between

the murders [committed in an identical manner] was a matter of days." Here, the evidence of planning for days and months was direct, explicit, and compelling. CCP should be upheld here.

Ferrell v. State, 686 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1996); Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418 (Fla. 2001); Sexton v. State, 775 So.2d 923, 934-35 (Fla. 2000); and Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998), also support affirming the Circuit Judge's finding of CCP here.

<u>Ferrell</u>, 686 So.2d at 1330, upheld CCP, where the perpetrators engaged in advanced planning by "obtain[ing] a gun and a getaway vehicle," taking "the victim to a remote area where there would be no witnesses," and shooting "the victim execution-style to prevent him from identifying codefendants." Here, Gill repeatedly manifested his advanced planning to kill to assure a death sentence and chose his moment to kill to execute his plan.

Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418, 432 (Fla. 2001), upheld CCP. There, CCP was established through several items of circumstantial evidence proving an implemented plan. Here, evidence of the implemented plan was direct and overwhelming.

Sexton v. State, 775 So.2d 923, 934-35 (Fla. 2000), upheld a death sentence for a strangulation murder. There, the trial judge's finding and weighting of CCP, where there was also statutory mental mitigation ("great weight"), was upheld. There, the planning persisted for two or three weeks, and the Defendant decided to execute the murder the day of the murder. There, the Defendant was determined to "finish off" the victim. In Sexton,

the "trial court properly evaluated and weighed this statutory mitigator and considered it in light of the statutory aggravators, including CCP and avoiding arrest." 775 So.2d at 937. Here, the planning persisted for months. When the victim was placed in the same cell with Gill, Gill decided to execute the murder. And, Gill was determined to "finish off" the victim as he strangled the victim to death. Sexton held that "not only ... competent substantial evidence supports the existence of the CCP aggravator, but also that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by affording it 'great weight.'" Here, the "trial court properly evaluated and weighed this statutory mitigator and considered it in light of the statutory aggravators." The facts support such an affirmance here.

Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So.2d 488, 492 (Fla. 1998), rejected a claim similar to ISSUE II:

Zakrzewski asserts that because he was under extreme emotional distress at the time of the murders, it was impossible for him to commit the murders in a cold, calculated, and premeditated fashion. Further, Zakrzewski argues that the murders were committed with a pretense of moral justification. We disagree. On the day of the murders, Zakrzewski left work at lunch in order to buy a machete. Zakrzewski proceeded to set up the murder scene before his family arrived home, by placing the machete behind the bathroom door. We find these actions to be both calculated and premeditated.

Here, Gill's planning was done far in advance of the day of the murder, and he re-committed himself to the plan when the victim was placed in the cell with him and when he lay awake that night. Gill's CCP was stronger than Zakrzewski's.

In contrast to the forgoing authorities, the Initial Brief discusses the facts of no precedents. Since, however, ISSUE II (IB 39), as well as

ISSUE I, cite to <u>Besaraba v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1995), the State notes here, in addition to the discussion of <u>Besaraba</u> in ISSUE I <u>supra</u>, that, in contrast to <u>Besaraba</u>, "we do know" from competent substantial evidence of Gill's plan to ensure he was sentenced to death for this murder. Unlike <u>Besaraba</u>, there was no evidence immediately surrounding the murder to indicate that it was spur-of-the-moment. Gill's acts were not "random" but rather designed to effectuate his pre-planned purpose of murder.

The Initial Brief cites multiple times (IB 38-39) to the 4-3 opinion in and Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1998), but there, unlike here, the evidence of CCP was circumstantial, which triggered the rule affording deference to a "reasonable hypothesis which might negate the aggravating factor," 714 So.2d at 398. There, the killing was "rash and spontaneous killing evidenced no analytical thinking, no conscious and well-developed plan to kill." Id. Here, in contrast, the evidence was direct, Gill's plan was announced, conscious, and explicit, not rash, and Gill repeatedly demonstrated analytical thinking in this murder as well as in numerous events related to the murder and this case. Mahn does not apply.

In sum, ISSUE II, if the merits are reached, should still be rejected.

ISSUE III (IB 41-42) attacks Florida's death penalty statute by claiming that a jury should have decided facts on which the death sentence

was based. He cites to Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

By failing to raise this claim with the trial court, ISSUE III was not preserved, thereby procedurally barring it here. See Evans v. State, 946 So.2d 1, 15 (Fla. 2006) ("this claim is procedurally barred because Evans did not preserve this claim by challenging the constitutionality of Florida's sentencing scheme both at trial and on direct appeal").

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